Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  09-0900 PO




)

JASON T. LINDSEY,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Jason T. Lindsey is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offense of submitting a false report to the Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Procedure


On June 26, 2009, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Lindsey’s peace officer license.  Lindsey was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail on July 3, 2009.  After granting two motions for continuance filed by Lindsey, we held a hearing on the complaint on March 1, 2010.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.   Kevin E.J. Regan, with the Regan Law Firm, LLC, represented Lindsey.  The matter was ready for our decision on April 12, 2010, when the transcript was filed.  


Commissioner Karen A. Winn, having read the full record including all the evidence, renders the decision.
  

Findings of Fact
1.  Lindsey is licensed as a peace officer.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.
2. Lindsey is employed as a peace officer by the City of Rich Hill.

3. Lindsey’s family has a history of drug use and criminal activity.  One of his parents was in prison.  Lindsey decided as a young man to pursue a career in law enforcement.
4. In December of 2005, Lindsey purchased a house (“the house”) under the federal Officer Next Door (“OND”) program.  The address of the house was 103 South 9th Street, Lee’s Summit, Missouri.
5. Under the OND program, homes are sold to law enforcement officers and teachers at approximately a 50% discount.  An officer who purchases a home under the OND program is required to live at the property as his or her primary residence for at least three years after the sale of the property closes.  The purchaser must not own any other home and must submit annual declarations stating that he or she lives in the house as the sole residence.

6. At the time of the purchase, Lindsey intended to live at the house full time, and he did so for the first year.

7. In February 2007, Lindsey began assisting his girlfriend Crystal’s
 family.  Crystal’s father, Donald Sutcliffe, had broken his leg and was unable to work on his farm in Freemont, Missouri, about 30 miles from Lindsey’s home.  Lindsey worked approximately two and a half hours every day at the farm for approximately eight months.  He also stayed with 
Sutcliffe.  Lindsey also assisted Sutcliffe when he had eye surgery after recovering from the leg injury.
8. Lindsey was also assisting Crystal in remodeling her house, which was also in Freemont.
9. Lindsey married Crystal in September of 2007.  She lived at her house in Freemont, and Lindsey lived in his house in Lee’s Summit.  They “had some issues” with their relationship in March of 2008 because he was not spending enough time at Crystal’s home.
  He resided at her home for part of March 2008 and all of April 2008.  Lindsey moved back into the house around May 5, 2008, and remained there.
10. During the summer of 2007, Lindsey resided in the house approximately 50% of the time.  Lindsey did not reside in the house at all for part of March 2008 and all of April 2008.  
11. On May 6, 2008, Lindsey filed a report with the Department of Housing and Urban Development claiming that he had continually resided at the house. 
12. On August 8, 2008, Lindsey appeared in the U.S. District Court, Western District of Missouri, and pled guilty to submitting a false report or statement, a misdemeanor.

13. On December 8, 2008, Lindsey was placed on probation for three years and required to pay restitution of $27,000.  This amount represented the full amount of the debt that was accelerated.

14. The judge and probation unit gave Lindsey special permission to keep firearms so that he could continue his career in law enforcement.
15. Lindsey was discharged from his probation after three months.  He has paid the full restitution amount and was discharged from any financial obligation.
16. At the time of the guilty plea, Lindsey offered to resign his position as a reserve deputy with the Bates County Sheriff’s Department.  Instead, he was offered a full-time position.  Lindsey is still active as a reserve deputy there.

17. Lindsey has made everyone, including potential employers, aware of his guilty plea.

18. The guilty plea has never been used against Lindsey in his capacity as a police officer.  Lindsey is able to perform his duties as a police officer, such as testifying, obtaining warrants, apprehending perpetrators, and writing tickets.
19. Lindsey received a chief’s award for an investigation with the University of Kansas Police Department.
20. Lindsey accepts responsibility for his actions.

21. Lindsey currently supports his wife and newborn child.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving that the licensee has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.

Cause for Discipline


The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:


The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed[.]
On August 8, 2008, Lindsey pled guilty to submitting a false report or statement in violation of 18 U.S.C.A. § 1012:

Whoever, with intent to defraud, makes any false entry in any book of the Department of Housing and Urban Development or makes any false report or statement to or for such Department; or

Whoever receives any compensation, rebate, or reward, with intent to defraud such Department or with intent unlawfully to defeat its purposes; or

Whoever induces or influences such Department to purchase or acquire any property or to enter into any contract and willfully fails to disclose any interest which he has in such property or in the property to which such contract relates, or any special benefit which he expects to receive as a result of such contract –

Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both.

A conviction resulting from a guilty plea collaterally estops the issue of whether Lindsey committed the crime.
  

We find cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2) because Lindsey committed a criminal offense.
Level of Discipline


Lindsey presented evidence of his rehabilitation and current character.  The chief of police with the City of Adrian, Richard Debruin, who served as a fellow officer with Lindsey in the past, testified:

Q:  Have you seen his performance in law enforcement?

A:  Yes.

Q:  What type of officer is he?

A:  He’s very – he’s honest, he’s trustworthy, he’s very, sometimes to the point, annoying because of officer safety.

Q:  What do you mean?

A:  He’s ever so cautious, where some of us older people aren’t as cautious.

Q:  How would you rate his honesty, courage and competence as an officer?

A:  I think he’s above most others.[
]
Debruin also testified that Lindsey’s ability to function as a police officer has not been compromised, nor has his reputation in the community suffered.

Sergeant Charles Steele, Lindsey’s supervisor, called Lindsey an “outstanding officer,” and would rate his honesty, courage and competence “very high.”
  Steele testified:
Q:  Have you ever had occasion to question his ability to protect and serve the people of his community?

A:  No.

Q:  What is his reputation in your town for good moral character?

A:  Outstanding.

Q:  The same question.  What’s his reputation in your department for good moral character?

A:  Outstanding.[
]

In licensing discipline cases, this Commission determines only whether there is cause for discipline.  The Director determines the level of discipline to impose.
  

Summary


We find cause to discipline Lindsey’s peace officer license under § 590.080.1(2).  


SO ORDERED on September 2, 2010.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner

�Section 536.080.2, RSMo 2000; Angelos v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 90 S.W.3d 189 (Mo. App., S.D. 2002).  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2009.


�The record does not provide Crystal’s last name.


�Tr. at 18.


�Section 621.045.  


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�The Director also cites Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090, which states:





(2) As used in section 590.080.1, RSMo:





(A) The phrase has “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.





*   *   *





(3) Pursuant to section 590.080.1(6), RSMo, the Director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer  licensee who:





*   *   *





(C) Has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of a criminal offense, whether or not a sentence has been imposed.





In prior cases, we have questioned the validity of this regulation.  See Director of Public Safety v. Murrel, No. 03-1963 PO (March 11, 2005); Director of Public Safety v. Smith, No. 03-1935 PO (Sept. 21, 2004).  We determined that no authority currently exists in Chapter 590 to make regulations defining or creating cause for discipline, except in the area of continuing education.  Until August 28, 2001, § 590.123, RSMo 2000, granted general rulemaking power to the Police Officer Standards and Training Commission (POST) “to effectuate the purposes of this chapter,” but the General Assembly repealed that statute before the effective date of Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090.  H.R. 80, 92nd Gen. Assem., 1st Sess. (2001 Mo. Laws 299); Mo. Const. art III, § 29.  Since August 28, 2001, the only rulemaking power granted to POST is in § 590.030.5(1), which is specifically limited to continuing education.





�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647, 649 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004) (citing James v. Paul, 495 S.W.3d 678, 682-83 (Mo. banc 2001)).


�Tr. at 29-30.


�Tr. at 32.


�Tr. at 32-33.


�Section 590.080.3.
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